

  

    

      

    

  




  Instructions for use




  The entrance to the Herculaneum archaeological site has long been the ceremonious monument in Corso Resìna, built in 1927 and dominated by one word: Herculaneum. A new future entrance is planned on the side facing the sea. Proceeding from this monumental entrance, a long ramp stretches straight down to the dig. Spread below is the entire excavation: small and embedded in the earth, but inordinately pleasing to the eye. A tuff wall, over 25 metres high, divides the ancient city from the modern, impressive in its testimony of how hard it must have been for the diggers to extract the Roman city from the clutches of the compact tuff that filled and covered it to the brim. All around hangs the city as we know it, with modern houses almost leaning on the excavations. From a bird’s-eye view, the ancient city seems to be part of the modern one. It is only far from the Corso Resìna traffic, down below, in the midst of the unexpected silence of the ancient Roman homes that another city, another time is discovered, a place where time stands still, but which is sure to have had a more man-friendly environment in its time.


  At the end of the ramp, an iron bridge crosses the ditch above the ancient beach, leading directly to the whereabouts of the III north-south road. However, the best perspective can only be found still lower, down the ramp and the tunnel that lead to the front of the ancient harbour. The stairs and the tunnel are dug in the tuff bank. Outside, is a humid trench dense with water plants. A walkway extends to the foot of the ancient tuff stairway that once led from the beach to two different city entrances, past two ancient fornixes (used to shelter boats and goods) and up between two terraced areas.


  


  


  The Vesuvius eruption in 79 AD


  


  On 24 August, 79 AD, it was a lovely sunny day. Late that morning, a sudden deafening roar emerged from the bowels of the earth and the Vesuvius burst open. A column of black smoke rose for miles, darkening the sky. A fearful darkness fell over the Vesuvian cities of Herculaneum, Pompeii, Stabia, the opulent villas and the village of Oplonti. Ash and lapillus, roaring cascades of water and earth clods fell thick from the sky. Mortal gases dispersed and incandescent lava slowly made its way down from a new volcanic cone that took shape at impressive speed, in the midst of mournful howls and tongues of fire. In fear for their lives, the inhabitants of Herculaneum and all the other neighbourhood villages tried to escape. A few of those who fled towards Naples probably made it safely. Many plunged down to the tiny harbour in the hope of fleeing by boat. But the seaquake drove them back, drowning some of them. Trapped between the deranged sea and the deluge of water and fire from the volcano, many sought refuge in the passages of the harbour dock. There, in the dark of night, they fell in the grasp of two surges of incandescent gas moving at 30 metres per second at a temperature of 400°C. In an instant they were all dead. A flow of blistering mud, several metres high, invaded the city, hiding it from view. After three days the drama was complete. No trace of Herculaneum remained. The mud solidified into tuff and with the passage of time, more volcanic lava flowed down the slope (the most impressive flow occurring much later, in 1631). Herculaneum literally vanished from view.


  It was only a question of time before it was forgotten. Only the words of a few ancient writers handed down the name, together with that of Pompeii, Stabia and Oplonti. As to the whereabouts of the Vesuvian cities, for many centuries, no one would know where they were.


  


  


  After the tragedy


  


  According to ancient historians Sventonius and Cassius Dione, after the tragedy, the Emperor Titus, crowned a few months after the death of his father, Vespesian, was the first to organise rescue operations. The eruption had caused tremendous damage. Stabia, Sorrento, Nocera and Salerno were repaired. Few things could be recovered from Pompeii, which was enshrouded in ash and lapillus. But Herculaneum was completely buried, swallowed by 20 metres of mud that was beginning to harden. Gone. Out of reach.


  With regard to the eruptions, ancient authors wrote: the most famous and versed is definitely Pliny the Younger, who watched the event from Miseno, while his uncle, Admiral Pliny the Elder, was dying in Stabia, suffocated by gas during a rescue attempt from the sea. Memories of the place where the tragedy took place in 79 AD survived for a long time, at least until the end of the Western Roman Empire in the V century. A beautiful map conserved in Vienna, the Peutinger table (Tabula Peutingeriana) bears witness to the above. Though published by Konrad Peutinger in 1591, the map dates back to the XIII century. It’s strange for a medieval map to show the names of cities that disappeared centuries ago along with any knowledge of their location. Yet, there they all are, on the Tabula Peutingeriana: Pompeii, Stabia, Oplonti and somehow, even Herculaneum. The explanation lies in the fact that despite its medieval origin, the map is a faithful copy of Roman roads around the III century. Its format probably derives from the World Map prepared by the great Marcus Hispanicus Agrippa (64 BC - 12 AD), friend and son-in-law of the great Roman Emperor, Ottavianus Augustus.





  Beneath the ground




  Most of ancient Herculaneum still remains underground and unexplored. However, two important buildings, the theatre and a huge, sumptuous, private villa, the domus of the Pisoni family, known as Villa of the Papyri, were explored through tunnels and wells until 1700, despite their being buried beneath the ground. Most of the tunnels leading to and crossing the theatre (22 metres beneath the current ground level) are still open today, even if closed to visitors for safety reasons. Following the initial exploration in the middle of the XVIII century, Villa of the Papyri was buried once more (1765).


  For a long time now, there has been talk of resuming the excavations due to the importance of the buildings and the incredible discoveries made there. Digging has, in fact, resumed on the site of the large Villa in recent years. Whereas the theatre dig is still closed. Although neither the theatre nor the villa can be visited, a reflection on these two buildings is a must, in order to understand their value and significance.


  


  


  (1) The theatre


  


  Spectators flocked to the theatre in Herculaneum to watch the performance of tragedies and comedies.


  When the sun was high, a velarium, a large tent supported at the sides by wooden poles, was mounted over the audience to protect it from the scorching rays. The theatre is shaped like a semicircle, with two arch orders (19 per order), 54 metres in diameter and 20 metres high. Both the outside and the inside were decorated with statues, paintings and variegated marble. The stage facing the audience contained 15 statues of divinities, senators and consuls. On important occasions, the audience could amount to 2,500 people: VIP seats (bisellia) were reserved in the ima cavea or lower part (down 4 wide, easy steps). Whereas, most of the spectators crowded the media cavea (middle part, up 16 steps). The summa cavea (up another 3 steps) welcomed those of lower social rank.


  The Herculaneum theatre is the only Roman theatre left intact up to its discovery, which took place in 1709. Without understanding what he had found, the land owner, Prince d’Elboeuf transformed it into a marble and statue quarry and most of the discovered objects were dispersed all over Europe, lost or destroyed. Around the mid 1700s a writing engraved on an architrave was found: it bore the name of the architect Numisius and that of the rich patron who had commissioned the construction of the theatre: Lucius Annius Mammianus Rufus, Augustales.


  Cassius Dione (a historian born more than a century after the eruption) states that the last performance was taking place when the Vesuvius erupted, on 24 August 79 AD. An ivory plate (the entrance ticket) found in the space reserved for the orchestra implies that the performance was probably a tragedy written by the Greek playwright Aeschylus.


  


  Tragedies, comedies, Atellans and mimes


  Romans naturally inherited their passion for theatre from the Greeks. Great Greek tragedy writers, such as Aeschylus, Sofoklis and Euripides were well-known, as well as the Latin tradition of the comedies written by Plautus and Terence. There must have been many theatre aficionados, considering that the Theatre of Marcellus in Rome, terminated in 11 BC, counted more than 14,000 seats (the San Carlo in Naples seats less than 3,000).


  In the I century AD, in the Augustus era, works pertaining to Greek and Latin tradition were still performed, but audience preferences were changing. Stage settings became increasingly sumptuous and sophisticated and the greater the uproar and obscenities in the performance, with accompanying music and dancing, the higher was the applause.  


  In these types of comedy, known as Atellans, character roles often had fixed, pre-established features: terrifying or clownish masks (dark for males, white for females), white clothes for the elderly, multicoloured for young people, yellow for courtesans, purple for the wealthy, etc. They represented stories of everyday life, with love and betrayal, deception and poisoning.


  The most loved genres included mimes and pantomimes, a sort of curtain raiser with jokes and satires that were often vulgar, where the originality and skill of actors or dancers unleashed the passion of supporters in the audience.


  


  


  (2) Villa of the papyri


  


  On 2 May 1750, while digging an irrigation well, (Pozzo Ciceri), a labourer stumbled on some “ancient stones”. Architect d’Alcubierre decided to see for himself. 28 metres down he found an elegant exedra, a round belvedere supported by columns, with precious floors in inlaid marble. Starting from the well, a 400 metre tunnel was excavated and other tunnels leading off it penetrated the ancient walls of an ancient Patrician villa.


  News of the discovery spread across the world, since tens of statues and works of art (exhibited today at the Naples National Museum) where discovered: 32 bronze busts and 13 large bronze statues, another 18 small and medium-sized bronze sculptures, 15 marble busts and 7 marble statues, as well as paintings, inscriptions, furnishings and engraved slabs (tabulae ceratae).


  Between 1752 and 1754, 1800 strange coalified objects were discovered. They were thought to be carbon cylinders and were abandoned on the beach along with the tuff that had covered and become a part of them. Only later did archaeologists understand what they were: rolls of papyri (volumina). In other words, books. The villa library (or at least part of it) that had once belonged to the owner, Lucius Calpurnius Piso Caesoninus, a rich and cultured Patrician from an ancient Roman family, consul of Macedonia and lover of Epicurean philosophy, had been discovered.


  The story behind Herculaneum papyri is a chapter in itself. How to open and undo the rolls? How to discover the content written on the fragile papyrus buried beneath the ground for almost 1700 years? A fascinating story that began 250 years ago and which is far from concluded. A cultural and technological challenge of great value and meaning. The works identified so far all belong to Greek Epicurean philosophers: some are of the founder Epicure himself, others belong to followers of his. The majority belong to Philodemus of Gadara, a Syrian who lived in Italy and died between 35 and 30 AD.


  Villa dei Pisoni was explored between 1750 and 1761. Then, in 1765, it was buried once more. Surveys show that the size of the construction is amazing: 32 metres wide and 253 metres long, all overlooking the sea at the time. The large peristyle garden alone covers a surface of 3,000 square metres, with a pool-fountain, 66 by 7 metres, at its centre.


  Apart from the recovered works of art, the building remained buried under the tuff that formed subsequent to the eruption in 79 AD and the lava accumulated in 1631. The recent reopening of the dig revealed various structures. Archaeologists hope, or rather dream, of discovering more papyri bearing lost Greek and Latin works.


  


  Education and writing


  In Herculaneum, as in all the other cities of the Roman world, education was neither public nor compulsory, but had to be paid for or was imparted on the initiative of private teachers. Rich families paid teachers to live in their homes (freely or as slaves) and teach their children. Other lessons were usually held at the Forum, in the open air or beneath an arcade or other, or in the teacher's house or a taberna. Everyone sat on the floor or on a stool and there were no benches. Lessons started at dawn and lasted till noon and on into the afternoon. Few holidays were officially established, but many took them anyway since school was not compulsory. Boys and girls went to the same class for about four years (from 7 to 11). Many ancient testimonies mention boring lessons and teaching was often accompanied by trashing for those who where loath to study. After four years, most children left school and never thought of it again, especially girls. Only a few took grammar lessons until they reached 16. A precious few proceeded with higher rhetorical studies until they were 20, following lessons given in larger cities by great orators of the time.


  No books were used because they were too expensive (each copy was hand-written by a copyist). Students copied or wrote dictated texts, learned many things by heart and counted on their fingers.


  Each student had his own personal writing material, including two or three waxed slabs bound together and a stylus: pointed at one end and shaped like a spatula on the other, for cancelling. One of the surfaces on these wooden slabs was sunken and spread with wax. Students wrote by grating the wax with the stylus. When the work was done and checked by the teacher, the wax was heated and the page turned smooth once more, ready to be used.


  Obviously, children did not use papyrus at school due to its elevated cost. Papyrus was used with ink as a writing medium to write books, documents, contracts, letters, accounting records: anything that was somehow destined to last longer. Papyrus as writing material was only substituted with membrane (sheep and goat skin) after the IV century, due to lack of supply. This membrane was called pergamena (parchment) for Pergamo, a city of current-day Turkey where the best quality parchment was produced.


  The passion for writing on walls is not of our invention. The walls and unfortunately the frescoes in Herculaneum (and everywhere else, ancient and modern) are fraught with graffiti, past and present. Naturally, archaeologists are interested in ancient graffiti, but condemn ‘ill-bred’ modern graffiti writers who fill our city walls with their own ‘I love yous’ and other similar nonsense. In a way, they’re not altogether wrong. 
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